Emergency Meetings of the Board of Directors of the Rocky Ridge Properties Owners' Association Meeting Dates: May 13, 2023 at 10:00 am and May 15, 2023 at 1:30 pm Meeting Location: ZOOM Platform

Meeting Minutes

Advance Notice of Meeting. Cirra Mason (the Association's bookkeeper) provided notice to homeowners of the Board meetings in accordance with the requirements of the Association's Bylaws. The means of notice included (i) emails of the notice and agenda to each member; (ii) mailing of the notice and agenda to members that do not accept email notices; (iii) posting of the notice and agenda on the website; and (iv) posting of the notice and agenda on the bulletin board at the Rocky Ridge entrance gate. The Notice/Agendas also indicated that the meeting was being held on an emergency basis, due to the insurance coverage proposal received on May 9th, 2023. William "Yates" Bauder and Justin "Buster" Fenley participated as the designated representatives of the Board for purposes of enabling a ZOOM platform meeting in accordance with California law. Yates participated from the project development office in the building adjacent to the real estate brokerage building at the bottom of the Rocky Ridge hill. Buster and homeowners joined the meeting by logging in to the ZOOM call.

Attendance and Quorum: Board members Steve Dohrmann, Bob Schuchardt, Laura Bertone, Frank Pagliaro, Matt Howarth and Bruce Shepherd attended the 5-13-23 meeting remotely through the ZOOM platform; Curt Sproul did not join the meeting. Board members Steve Dohrmann, Bob Schuchardt, Laura Bertone, Frank Pagliaro, Matt Howarth, Bruce Shepherd and Curt Sproul attended the 5-15-23 meeting.

A quorum of Board members thus was present throughout both meetings.

In addition to the Board members, an additional 26 townhouse owners attended the 5-15-23 Board meeting through ZOOM connections.

President Dohrmann called the 5-13-23 Board meeting to order at 10:10 am and adjourned the Board meeting at 11:40 am. President Dohrmann called the 5-15-23 Board meeting to order at 1:36 pm and adjourned the Board meeting at 3:13 pm.

- **1. Approval of Minutes.** The minutes of the 4-25-2023 Board meeting were reviewed and approved by the Board (motion was made by Bruce, 2nd provided by Laura, and the minutes were approved by unanimous vote).
- **2. Storm Damage:** Yates reported that the damages from the harsh winter weather are proceeding both ahead of schedule and under the originally contemplated cost. Yates now figures that he can complete the work for around \$50,000 in the aggregate.
- 3. Insurance: The primary reason for the meetings was to discuss the insurance proposal received for the 5-15-2023 through 5-15-2024 12-month period. The discussions are summarized as part of the attached Board resolution approved on a tentative basis by the Board on 5-13-23 (with the understanding that final approval would be discussed and considered by the Board at the 5-15-23 meeting). The Resolution was then approved on a final basis on 5-15-23. In brief, the Board concluded that the Association at this point has little choice but to procure the insurance on the described terms, but to also continue to look for alternative insurance (though the likelihood of identifying more advantageous coverage through a replacement policy seems low).
- 4. **Special Assessment.** The Board also concluded that in order to cover the increased insurance premiums (as well as the winter 2022-3 storm repairs), the Association should declare imposition of a special assessment of \$7,500 per townhouse unit (and a lesser amount per single family residence) to address the emergency circumstances. See the attached Resolution for further discussion. The Board encouraged all

townhome owners to pay as quickly as possible, including in advance of the June 14, 2023 deadline, given that early payments will enable the Association to reduce the financing costs involved in paying for the insurance premiums.

- **5. Enforcement of Assessments.** Laura reported that two homeowners now are delinquent for 2 quarters' worth of regular assessments. The Board determined to vigorously pursue collection (including through imposition and foreclosure of a lien, if necessary). Laura will work with Curt and Cirra to implement the requisite enforcement steps.
- **6. Property Manager's report.** Yates noted that preparations for the summer season are proceeding, but that they are a bit delayed due to late snow melt. One item that may be particularly delayed is the resurfacing of the lake view pool. Yates also noted that the bear population is robust and is frequenting Rocky Ridge, but that the electrical bear mats appear to be effectively deterring break-ins.
- **7. Preliminary List of Topics Scheduled for Future Board Meetings** [Note: The list for each meeting is subject to change]:

The following list tracks topics which the Board has identified for potential discussion in future Board meetings:

June 13, 2023	Consider status of steps pertinent to 2023 Board of Directors election (6-27 is deadli for an owner to file as a candidate).		
	Discussion of failure of enforcement of liens on homeowner properties to secure homeowner assessment obligations		
July 18, 2023	Consider status of steps pertinent to 2023 Board of Directors election		
September 2, 2023	Board election. Consideration of Increase in Target Amenity Levels for Rocky Ridge, and of the Required Corresponding Adjustment in Reserves Set Aside to Cover the Associated Costs		

SCHEDULE FOR REGULARLY SCHEDULED 2022-23 BOARD MEETINGS

Date	Location	Date	Location
November 21, 2022 at 1:30	Zoom Platform	May 15, 2023 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform
December 13, 2022 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform	June 13, 2023 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform
February 21, 2023 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform	July 18, 2023 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform
April 25, 2023 at 1:30 pm	Zoom platform	September 2, 2023 at 9:00	Rocky Ridge beach clubhouse
		am	

Resolution of the Board of Directors Rocky Ridge Properties Owners' Association May 15, 2023

The Board of Directors of the Rocky Ridge Properties Owners' Association met on May 13 and May 15 in duly noticed emergency Board meetings. The purpose of the meetings was to consider the terms of property damage, general liability and umbrella insurance policies proposed to apply to the 12-month period from and after May 15, 2023, and further to hear an update by the Property Manager as to the costs likely to be incurred by the Association in addressing the storm damage incurred through the harsh 2022-23 winter.

The terms proposed for the 5/15/23 to 5/15/24 12-month period call for material increases in the premiums for said policies. The Association's insurance broker, Andy Sinclair, noted that the market for such insurance for townhouse/condominium developments in the Tahoe basin has evolved considerably over the last few years, with the terms becoming markedly less attractive to insureds. The market appears to call for premiums for such policies that are almost 3 times the premiums applicable last year, and more than 10 times the premiums applicable to such policies but a few years ago.

The proposed insurer for the proposed coverage is a syndicate led by the Multi-Family Risk Management Group. The same insurer provided coverage to the Association last year (i.e., May 15, 2022 to May 15, 2023). The insurer never provided the Association with a notice of cancellation dictating that it would not renew coverage for the 5/15/23 to 5/15/24 time period (as required in California if an insurer does not want to renew a policy). On May 9, 2023, however, just 6 days prior to the expiration of the 5/15/22 to 5/15/23 policy, the insurer delivered a quote dictating the terms of the policy for the 5/15/23 to 5/15/24 time period. The quote was presented with an admonishment that the terms are not negotiable.

Given the proposed material increases in the applicable premiums, plus the imminent expiration of the policy providing coverage during the immediately prior 12-month period, the Board concluded that it had no choice but to deal with the insurance issues on an expedited and emergency basis.

The key terms for the proposed insurance package are summarized below:

- The coverage will provide property damage coverage up to \$53,908,550, subject to a deductible of \$25,000 per occurrence and a special deductible for wildfire damage of \$2,695,428. Damage due to earthquake or flood is not covered.
- The coverage will include general liability coverage of \$1,000,000 per occurrence and \$2,000,000 in the aggregate.
- Both of these coverages will include an additional umbrella coverage of \$10,000,000.
- The premium for the coverage is approximately \$1,794,000 per year (for the 12-month period commencing 5/15/23).

The Association's insurance broker is a well-regarded broker with considerable experience in California insurance markets, particularly with respect to common interest (e.g., condominium) projects in the Tahoe Basin. The broker represents a significant portion of the larger common interest developments in the Tahoe Basin. The broker confirmed that he surveyed the market extensively, including through both retail and wholesale pathways, to seek more advantageous terms for the insurance, but that no better terms were available. The broker further confirmed that he had checked the terms of the Association's CC&Rs and that the policies comply with the requirements of the CC&Rs.

The broker indicated that the insurer will permit the Association to pay for the premium "over time" through third party financing that permits multiple sequenced payments. The terms of the financing still are being confirmed, but the terms likely will include (i) interest at an annualized rate in the 6 to 10% range and (ii) termination charges in the event of termination prior to the end of the term of the policy.

The Board (on a motion from Laura Bertone, with a second from Bruce Shepherd and a unanimous vote) approved the following:

- The Board found that the increased insurance premiums required by the insurers as a condition to issuance of the proposed insurance policies were not reasonably anticipatable, and in fact were not anticipated by the Board, at the time of the preparation and the distribution (and the approval by the members of the Association) of the 2023 Association Budget in accordance with Civil Code Section 5300(9).
- After evaluating the available alternatives, the Board directed the Property Manager, on behalf of the Association, to procure the proposed insurance on the terms described above.
- The Board directed the Treasurer to negotiate the best financing terms reasonably possible with respect to the payment over time of the premiums for the insurance coverage. The Board also authorized the Association to commit to the financing terms, so long as the Treasurer concluded that the payment of the proposed premium payments was reasonably viable in the context of the Association's financial position (including the proposed special assessment described below).
- The Board further found that the harsh weather of the 2023-24 winter was effectively unprecedented, and that the increased costs borne by the Association to address storm damage accordingly could not have been, and in fact were not, anticipated by the Board at the time of the preparation and the distribution (and the approval by the members of the Association) of the 2023 Association Budget in accordance with Civil Code Section 5300(9). Although the Association still is in the process of confirming damages and related remediation costs, the Property Manager estimated that the extraordinary expenses incurred by the Association will amount to approximately \$50,000. The Board directed the Property Manager to report back to the Board should the actual expense amount to more than this figure.
- The Board further authorized the Association to adopt a special assessment of \$7,500 per townhouse unit to address the emergency situations caused by the insurance procurement and storm damage issues. The Board declared that the special assessment shall be payable within 30 days from adoption of the Board resolution (on May 15, 2023; this means that the assessment payment date will be June 14, 2023). The special assessment will be applied to cover (i) the Association's extraordinary winter 2022-23 storm damage costs and (ii) the increased insurance premiums for the period from 5/15/23 to 12/31/23; increased premiums for periods after 12/31/23 shall be addressed in the budget applicable to such later time periods.
- The Board further approved imposition of a special assessment that will be applied to the two single family residences within Rocky Ridge, but the amount will be materially lower, given that the property damage insurance coverage package does not apply to property damage to the single family residences (these residences procure their own property damage insurance, and only participate in the Association's coverage with respect to the portion attributable to common facilities). The Board directed the Treasurer to prepare a mathematical calculation of the amount of the special assessment for the single-family residences in accordance with the requirements of the Rocky Ridge CC&R's.
- The Board directed the Association's Treasurer and the Property Manager to continue to assess the insurance markets in the weeks ahead, and to determine whether more favorable terms could be obtained through procurement of alternative insurance from another insurer or insurer group. The Board further noted, however, that given the terms of the policies applicable to early cancellations (including cancellation fees), it is unlikely that the Association will find replacement policies which will achieve a material net economic advantage for the Association.

• The Board further authorized the Treasurer and the Property Manager to take such further steps which they reasonably conclude to be beneficial to the implementation of the foregoing.

The Board also encouraged homeowners to carefully review the separate insurance policies which they have procured, or should have procured (!), with respect to their unit. The goal should be to make sure that they provide sufficient and effective coverage to mesh with the Association's insurance. In this vein, the Board reminded homeowners that they are responsible for covering property damage "from the walls in" to their townhouse units. Accordingly, each homeowner should have its own policy of insurance for its townhouse. These are commonly called "H06" policies and they should include property damage coverage (including for furnishings, fixtures, appliances and personal property), general liability coverage, and "loss assessment" coverage. The Association's insurance broker, Andy Sinclair, has offered to review each townhouse owner's H06 policy if that would be helpful to the townhouse owner in coordinating coverage with the Association procured coverage. Andy can be reached at *andy@sinclairinsurance.com*.